STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Deadra Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

---

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-002533

TRIAL CASE NO. 2012-CP-26-4852

---

Jacklyn J. Donevant . . . . . Respondent

v.

Town of Surfside Beach. . . . . Petitioner

---

PETITIONER'S BRIEF  
TO THE SUPREME COURT

---

Charles F. Thompson, Jr.  
Malone, Thompson, Summers & Ott  
339 Heyward Street  
Columbia, S.C. 29201  
803-254-3300

Attorney for Appellant

Other counsel of record:

Henrietta Golding, Esquire  
McNair Law Firm  
2411 N. Oak Street, Suite 206  
Myrtle Beach S.C. 29577  
843-444-1107

Attorney for the Respondent

**RECEIVED**

### **QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

The Court of Appeals in this case has incorrectly, and greatly, expanded the tort of public policy discharge. The decision is in conflict generally with the Supreme Court's decisions in this area because, before this time, the tort has not expanded beyond situations in which the employer required the employee to violate the law or the termination was itself a violation of law carrying a penalty. The Court of Appeals expanded the tort to include situations where the employee was not asked to violate the law and the Court of Appeals has eliminated the requirement that the law in question impose a sanction on the employee for violation. Now, any employee with a duty or responsibility suggested by law is completely beyond the control of the employer. Every bureaucrat with some legal authority is a power unto himself and unanswerable to anyone.

The decision is also specifically in conflict with the Supreme Court's decision in *Antley v. Shepherd* which established that an employee can be terminated for insisting on performing a discretionary duty. Donevant alleged she was fired for issuing a stop work order on a construction project. The building code only "authorizes" a Building Official to issue stop work orders for violations. The duty was discretionary. The Court of Appeals ignored the plain language of the law in finding the code "required" stop work orders for code violations. In any event, each of the three grounds of the Court of Appeals' rationales for this conclusion are clearly incorrect.

Finally, the Court of Appeals' conclusion that Building Officials must issue stop work orders for building code violations would create economic chaos in the construction industry in South Carolina.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from the employment termination of Jacklyn Donevant. Donevant was the building official for the Town of Surfside Beach (the Town). The only legal issue tried was whether or not the Town fired Donevant, in violation of public policy, because Donevant issued a discretionary "stop work" order on a construction project on the Town pier.

The Town contended at summary judgment, directed verdict, and judgment notwithstanding the verdict, that Donevant's allegations did not meet the requirements of the public policy exception to the at-will employment rule. These contentions were overruled. The case was tried before a Horry County jury from February 10, 2014 through February 14, 2014. The jury returned a verdict of \$500,000 which was reduced by Judge Deadre Jefferson to \$300,000 pursuant to the South Carolina Tort Claims Act. Judgment was dated February 18, 2014 and received by the Town on March 3, 2014. The Town filed a notice of appeal on March 10, 2014.

The Court of Appeals decision in this matter affirming the trial court's judgment was filed on August 26, 2015 and the Petitioner's petition for rehearing and suggestion of rehearing *en banc* was denied on November 19, 2015.

## FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Donevant worked for the Town of Surfside Beach as its Building and Zoning Department Director. At the time of her termination, Donevant was the only person in the Town's Building and Zoning Department who was licensed to review plans and conduct construction inspections. The Town utilized the City of Myrtle Beach in Donevant's absence, and has, at other times, employed a second licensed building official. (R. 70).

In 2010, the Town hired Jim Duckett as its new Town Administrator. He was Donevant's immediate superior. Mr. Duckett heard complaints about Donevant when he began his duties, but he resolved to start with a blank slate with all of the Town's employees. (R. 302)

The main problem Mr. Duckett had with Donevant was that she was frequently absent from, or late to, work. Donevant's own co-workers testified she was missing from work approximately 40% of the time. (R. 285). Duckett eventually required Donevant to be at work by 9:00 AM or to let him know where she was. (R. 304-306). Donevant continued to absent herself from work and Duckett escalated pressure to bring her attendance under control by issuing warnings, giving her a negative performance review, and requiring Donevant to report, via email, when she was not going to be in the office during normal operating hours. (R. 304-312). In her trial testimony, Donevant admitted she had attendance issues and she admitted that she disregarded the Town Administrator's instructions to inform him if she would be late or absent. (R. 82, 100-101).

Donevant freely admitted that she did not get along with Duckett, whom she regarded as an "idiot" who was constantly "picking on me," and "trying to do my job." She further admitted that she disregarded his instructions from time to time. In fact, toward the end of her

employment, Donevant informed Duckett, in writing, that she would disregard his instructions. (R. 60, 64-65, 83b, 89, 98, 100, 136).

In December 2012, Donevant took an extended leave due to a medical condition. Sabrina Morris took over as the Interim Director during her absence. Because Morris lacked the necessary building official licensure, she could not approve building plans. The Town made arrangements with the City of Myrtle Beach for it to perform this function. (R. 47-48).

Donevant came back to work on March 13, 2012. On her first day back at work, Duckett informed Donevant that she was not to interfere with any decisions made during her absence. He informed her of this in writing and specifically warned her that termination might result if she did interfere with any decisions made during her leave. Duckett gave this instruction because he wanted her to focus on issues going forward. (R. 313-315). Donevant admitted that she disregarded this instruction almost immediately upon return to work. (R. 98-100).

Duckett also reminded Donevant that she was to report to him and not to the Deputy Administrator Micki Fellner. (R. 92). Duckett felt that Donevant had been avoiding him—preferring to report to Ms. Fellner. Ms. Fellner also testified that she told Donevant that she needed to report to Duckett, and not to her. In her testimony, Donevant admitted she understood she was to report Duckett and not Fellner but admitted that she defied this instruction because she did not feel she “had to report anything to Jim [to do] with my job.” (R. 107-109).

The last straw for Donevant had to do with her actions regarding the Town pier. In 2012, the most prominent public issue in the Town of Surfside Beach was the Town’s pier. (R. 230, 276-279). The Town was attempting, with difficulty, to get space on the pier leased. Various stories had been in the local media about the pier. Shortly before Donevant went on medical

leave, the restaurant space on the pier had been leased and the new tenant had received a permit to start demolition in the space. (Id.).

On March 20, 2012, without telling anyone what she was doing, Donevant went to the pier and looked in a window at the jobsite. (R. 52-53). Donevant alleges that she saw new flooring, new plumbing, and new openings for windows. She regarded this as new construction not authorized by a demolition permit and therefore issued a “stop work” order and posted it on the door to the job worksite. (R. 52-55). Sometime later, she told Fellner that she had issued the stop work order. Fellner asked her if she had informed Duckett and Donevant responded that she had not. (R. 106-108).

When Donevant eventually came back to the office, Fellner saw her and again reminded her that she needed to tell Duckett what was going on. (Id.). Donevant admitted she disregarded Duckett’s and Fellner’s instructions because she felt “why would I have to report anything to Jim with my job?” and “I was doing my job, I had nothing to report.” (R. 108, 111). Duckett first learned of the stop work order when one of the Town Councilmen called him asking what was going on at the pier. (R. 318-319). About the same time, Fellner called Duckett to report her conversation with Donevant. (Id.). Duckett immediately went to the pier and, to his surprise, was greeted by a television crew and members of council. (Id.). Donevant denied tipping off the media that something had happened at the pier. (R. 105).

Duckett concluded that Donevant had exercised extremely poor judgment by not telling him what was going on and not reporting to him as instructed. He told Donevant to meet him at the office the next workday. (R. 110). They met, and Duckett first presented Donevant with a written warning. Donevant admits that Duckett told her that the problem was she should have told him what she had done; the problem was not the stop work order. (R. 112). The warning

explicitly stated it was based on Donevant's failure to communicate and that Duckett did not question her authority to issue the stop work order. (R. 406). Donevant, however, refused to sign the warning in acknowledgment that she received it. (Despite the fact that she admitted she had signed prior counseling's with no objections) (R. 83, 84, 86, 116). Duckett therefore informed her that he was suspending her for three days. He presented her with a suspension notice. (R. 115-116). This time, Donevant signed the notice. (Id.). The whole matter could have ended there. Duckett thought that Donevant understood the reason for the discipline and that they could go forward constructively from there. However, upon her return from suspension, Donevant gave Duckett a written note that stated:

My suspension was not right . All I did was follow the law, which you didn't want me to follow. Like I told you the other day, I will follow the law even if that means not following your instructions. You have been picking on me and treating me badly, for a long time, even though I do my work by the book and I am dedicated to the Town

(R. 410). Duckett was very surprised by this note as he had thought they had reached an understanding. The note started with the false assertion that he had directed Donevant to violate the law. It continued with the insubordinate statement that she would not follow his instructions. It ended with a clear disavowal that she had done anything wrong regarding any of the disciplinary actions taken against her.

Even after this note, Duckett still did not fire Donevant. Several weeks later, however, a Town election was held and a new Mayor was elected. Duckett did not want to continue in his position with the changes and decided he would resign. He also decided that, although he was willing to continue to work with Donevant, that he did not think it right to pass along such a problem employee to the next Town Administrator. He therefore decided to terminate

Donevant's employment. (R. 326-330).

## ARGUMENT

### **The Court of Appeals erred in greatly expanding the public policy exception and creating a class of employees unanswerable to anyone**

In South Carolina, the rule remains that all employment is “at-will” and employees may be terminated, or may quit, for any reason or no reason at all. This was reaffirmed most recently in *McNeil v. S. Carolina Dep't of Corr.*, 404 S.C. 186, 743 S.E.2d 843 (Ct. App. 2013) and *Taghivand v. Rite Aid Corporation*, 411 S.C. 240, 768 S.E.2d 385 (2015). *McNeil* and *Taghivand* are also the most recent cases dealing with the public policy exception to the at-will employment rule.

South Carolina courts do recognize a (previously very limited) exception for discharge in violation of public policy. However, as the *McNeil* court reaffirmed, it had been applied only to situations in which an employee was forced to choose between his job and committing a criminal act or to cases in which the termination itself was a violation of law containing criminal penalties.<sup>1</sup> *Garner v. Morrison Knudsen Corp.*, 318 S.C. 223, 456 S.E.2d 907 (1995); *Antley v Shepherd*, 340 S.C. 541, 549, 532 S.E.2d 294, 297 (2000) (aff'd as modified 564 S.E.2d 116 (S.C. 2002)).

It is for the courts to decide what constitutes public policy and “it is a question of law.” It is not a question for the trier of fact. *McNeil*, 743 S.E.2d at 846.

As the exception was originally decided, and in some subsequent cases, the first prong was worded to include only situations in which the employee was required to commit a “criminal act.” *Garner v Morrison Knudsen Corp.*, 318 S.C. 223, 456 S.E.2d 907 (1995); *Ludwick v. This*

---

<sup>1</sup> The second prong was first made explicit in *Culler v. Blue Ridge Co-op*, 422 S E 2d 91 (S.C. 1992).

*Minute of Carolina, Inc.*, 287 S.C. 213, 221, 337 S.E.2d 213, 214 (1985). However, several cases, when describing the first prong, speak of requiring the employee to “violate a law.” *Barron v. Labor Finders of South Carolina*, 384 S.C. 21, 682 S.E.2d 271 (Ct. App. 2009); *Lawson v. South Carolina Dept. of Corrections*, 340 S.C. 346, 350, 532 S.E.2d 259, 260 (2000); *Moshtaghi v. The Citadel*, 314 S.C. 316, 321, 443 S.E.2d 915, 919 (Ct. App. 1994). This difference in language has never been identified as intent to change the exception. In fact, in *Miller v. Fairfield Communities*, 382 S.E.2d 16 (S.C. Ct. App. 1989), the court ruled that public policy discharge required a criminal sanction and a “civil penalt[y] or sanction” was insufficient. *Miller v. Fairfield Communities, Inc.*, 299 S.C. 23, 26, 382 S.E.2d 16, 19 (Ct. App. 1989) (“the Supreme Court did not consider public policy outside the sphere of criminal sanctions.”). As no reason has been given for the variation in language, *Miller* controls and the first prong requires a criminal sanction. The Court of Appeals’s conclusion that a violation of “any law,” is therefore plainly incorrect.

The *McNeil* court did note that the public policy exception had not been expressly limited to the two situations above but had not been applied beyond them. On this point, the court cited *Garner v. Morrison Knudsen Corp.* 318 S.C. 223, 456 S.E.2d 907 (1995) and *Keiger v. Citgo Coastal Petroleum*, 326 S.C. 369, 482 S.E.2d 792 (Ct. App. 1997). In *Garner*, the plaintiff alleged termination in retaliation for reporting radioactive contamination and, in *Keiger*, the employee alleged termination in retaliation for reporting wage payment concerns to the South Carolina Department of Labor. Neither of these situations fit within the two prongs identified in *Ludwick* and other cases. However, in *Garner* and *Keiger*, the appeal courts reversed dismissals based on S.C. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) because the courts felt the issues were novel and required

development through discovery. These courts specifically held, however, that they were not expanding the tort of public policy discharge.<sup>2</sup>

Now, for the first time, the Court of Appeals in this case is expanding the tort beyond situations in which the employee is required to violate the law.<sup>3</sup>

Donevant alleges that she was terminated in retaliation for issuing the stop-work order at the pier and this is in violation of public policy. Donevant, claims that she issued the stop-work order because the contractor at the pier only had a demolition permit but was doing some construction work. (R. 401) (R. 52-55, 147). (The construction permit was pending and was, in fact, issued soon after Donevant issued the stop work order). (R. 408).

The basis of Donevant's authority to issue a stop-work order on the pier restaurant project came from the Town's building code.<sup>4</sup> (R. 58-59, 147) (R. 269). The code section applicable to this case reads:

Whenever the building official finds any work regulated by this code being performed in a manner contrary to the provisions of this code or dangerous or unsafe, the building official **is authorized** to issue a stop work order.

(R. 423) (emphasis added).

The Building Code "authorizing" stop-work orders contains no criminal penalty for failing to issue a stop-work order. It does not contain a civil penalty either. In fact, as discussed

---

<sup>2</sup> "Because the facts of this case have not been fully developed, we do not address the ultimate question whether the public policy exception to the employment at-will doctrine is applicable in this case." *Garner v. Morrison Knudsen Corp.*, 318 S.C. 223, 227, 456 S.E.2d 907, 910 (1995)

<sup>3</sup> Although Petitioner contends the tort is limited to violations carrying criminal penalties, for purposes of simplicity, Petitioner will, after this point, mainly refer to the exception as "violation of law."

<sup>4</sup> The Town, like most municipalities, adopts the International Uniform Building Code, as written by a national code commission.

more fully below, according to the plain language of section 115, a building official is not required to issue a stop-work order at all. They are merely “authorized” to do so. This is far from a requirement, subject to a criminal or civil sanction, that a building official issue a stop-work order for construction work done without a permit. Donevant did not have to issue a stop work order that day and therefore, no one was requiring her to violate any law. The Court of Appeals’s decision in this case is that an employer cannot interfere, in any manner, with an employee exercising a statutory right or duty. This is an extremely broad grant of unfettered discretion to a wide range of employees. There are numerous examples of provisions in state laws that give officials various authority, rights, duties, and responsibilities. Some of these include:

Department of Health Agents and Inspectors have “authority to . . . arrest . . . investigate . . . seize . . .” S.C. Code Ann. 44-53-480(b) (1976).

Solicitor has : “authority to . . . [prosecute]” S.C. Code Ann. 48-1-210 (1976).

County Administrator “has authority to suspend employees and interpret Home Rule Act.” S.C. Code Ann. 4-9-650 (1976).

Parole Officers have “the authority to enforce the criminal laws of the State.” S.C. Code Ann. 24-21-280(B) (1976).

Assessors “shall” “reassess property . . . appeal . . . enter and examine all new nonresidential buildings . . .” S.C. Code Ann. 12-37-90 (1976).

Jail Employees “have the authority to make arrests . . .” “1986 Op. Atty Gen, No. 86-38, p 119. (citing S.C. Code Ann. 23-1-145 (1976)).

Election managers have: “authority to maintain good order at the polls and enforce obedience . . .” S.C. Code Ann. 7-13-140 (1976).

Livestock Inspector “shall have authority to enter premises . . . inspect . . .” S.C. Code Ann. 47-13-620 (1976).

Marine Resource Officer “has authority to enter and inspect . . . stop and search . . . arrest . . .” S.C. Code Ann. 50-5-90 (1976).

Airport Police “have authority to issue summonses . . . arrest . . .” S.C. Code Ann. 55-11-350 (1976).

Adult School Crossing Guard has “authority to . . . direct, control or regulate traffic . . .” S.C. Code Ann. 56-5-740 (1976).

Fire Marshall (including local designees) “has authority to confiscate . . .” and authority to enforce code. S.C. Code Ann. 23-36-110; 23-9-30 (1976).

Noxious Weed Inspector “shall have authority to stop and inspect . . .” S.C. Code Ann. 46-23-60 (1976).

Park Ranger has “the authority to issue summonses [and arrest] . . .” S.C. Code Ann. 51-3-147 (1976).

Deputy Sheriff has “authority to perform [duties pertaining to office of his principle.]” S.C. Code Ann. 23-13-50.

Highway Patrolman has “authority to arrest. . .” S.C. Code Ann. 23-5-40 (1976).

Hospital Designee has “sole authority to detain a child . . .” S.C. Code Ann. 63-7-750(A)(3) (1976).

Gas Meter Reader has “authority to visit meters and appurtenances . . .” S.C. Code Reg. 103-425(C) (2008).

DHEC Hospital Inspector has “authority [to] inspect . . . investigate . . .” S.C. Code Reg. 61-91.202 (2015).

DHEC Emergency Coordinator has “authority to commit . . . resources . . .” S.C. Code Reg. 61-79.265.55 (1992).

South Carolina Law Enforcement Division has [various authority involving investigation, arrest, operations of statewide facilities and systems]. S.C. Code Ann. 23-3-15 (1976).

State Constables S.C. Code Ann. 23-7-50 (1976).

Licensed Engineers “shall hold paramount the safety, health, and welfare of the public in the performance of his professional duties.” S.C. Code Reg. 49-301 (2009).

The Court of Appeals, therefore, has created an unworkable situation. Any employee with an authority or duty granted by law becomes untouchable. No one can regulate or control

their decision-making. The Court of Appeals has erased the ability of administrators, mayors, councils, agency heads, and others, to control such employees and prevent them from running amok with their authority. For governments to function and be answerable to the public, this decision must be corrected.

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