STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

RECEIVED

In the Supreme Court

JUN 14 2017

APPEAL FROM Horry COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The Honorable Debra Jefferson
Circuit Court Judge

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-002533
TRIAL CASE NO. 2012-CP-26-4852

Jacklyn J. DonevantRespondent

v.

Town of Surfside Beach.....Petitioner

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF
TO THE SUPREME COURT

McNAIR LAW FIRM, P.A.
Henrietta U. Golding SC Bar #02173
James K. Gilliam SC Bar #76695
Post Office Box 336
2411 Oak Street, Suite 206
Myrtle Beach, SC 29578
(843) 444-1107
Attorneys for Respondent
Jacklyn J. Donevant

Other Counsel of Record

Charles F. Thompson, Jr.
Malone, Thompson, Summers & Ott
339 Heyward Street, Suite 200

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

Int’l Bldg. Code § 105.1 (2006) (emphasis added).

“It shall be unlawful for any person, firm or corporation to erect, construct, alter, extend, repair, move, remove, demolish or occupy any building, structure or equipment regulated by this code, or cause same to be done, **in conflict with or in violation of any of the provisions of this code.**” Int’l Bldg. Code § 113.1 (2006) (emphasis added).

⁷ In the Town’s brief, it incorrectly cites to the 2012 International Building Code and includes a copy of Chapter 1 of the 2012 International Building Code at the end of its brief. The 2012 International Building Code does not apply to this case. Donevant issued the stop work order on March 20, 2012. (R. p. 401). The 2006 International Building Code was in effect at this time. The Town did not adopt the 2012 International Building Code until July 9, 2013. (R. p. 426). All citations in Donevant’s brief, as well as the Court of Appeals’ opinion, are to the 2006 International Building Code. For the Court’s convenience, Donevant has included a copy of Chapter 1 of the 2006 Internal Building Code at the end of her brief.

Thus, pursuant to Chapter 1 of the International Building Code, the building official shall enforce compliance with the provisions of the building code. Int'l Bldg. Code § 104.2. The building official is, in fact, "directed" by the code to do so. Int'l Bldg. Code § 104.1. The code requires any owner or authorized agent, before engaging in any construction on the premises, to "first make application to the building official and obtain the required permit." Int'l Bldg. Code § 105.1. Chapter 1 declares it unlawful for any person to erect, construct, or alter any building or structure "in violation of any provisions of this code." Int'l Bldg. Code § 113.1.

Here, the contractors at the Pier Restaurant had not obtained a construction permit when Donevant issued the stop work order. The contractors only had a demolition permit that allowed for "demo interior of building only." (R. p. 394). Thus, before the contractors could perform construction at the Pier Restaurant, they were required to obtain a proper construction permit. See Int'l Bld. Code § 105.1 ("Any owner or authorized agent who intends to construct ... shall first make application to the building official and obtain the required permit."). Donevant testified the contractors started construction at the Pier Restaurant by cutting openings for doors and windows, studding a new wall, and installing plumbing, electrical, and subflooring. (R. p. 53). Because the contractors started construction at the Pier Restaurant without the required permit, the construction was unlawful under the building code. See Int'l Bld. Code § 113.1 (declaring it unlawful for any person to erect, construct, or alter any building or structure "in violation of any provisions of this code.").

Because the unpermitted construction at the Pier Restaurant violated the building code, the law required Donevant, as building official, to enforce compliance with the code. See Int'l Bld. Code § 104.2 (stating "the **building official shall** ... issue permits for the erection, and alteration, demolition and moving of buildings and structures, inspect the premises for which such permits

have been issued and **enforce compliance with the provisions of the code.**) (emphasis added). In order to carry out her legal duty to “enforce compliance” with the building code, Donevant issued a stop work order as she was required to do so by law. See Int’l Bld. Code § 104.3 (“The building official shall issue all necessary notices or orders to ensure compliance with this code.”). Therefore, unlike Antley, where the statutes “permitted but did not require” the tax assessor to take action, the statutory and building code provisions at issue here required Donevant’s actions of enforcing compliance with the building code.

Accordingly, this Court should find that Antley does not control the result in this case, because unlike the tax assessor in Antley, Donevant possessed the sole, absolute, and unfettered authority to issue stop work orders and was required to do so for unpermitted construction.

IV. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY INTERPRETED THE BUILDING CODE IN DETERMINING DONEVANT WAS REQUIRED TO ISSUE THE STOP WORK ORDER FOR UNPERMITTED CONSTRUCTION

The Town argues the plain language of Section 114.1⁸ of the International Building Code did not require Donevant to issue the stop work order for unpermitted construction at the Pier Restaurant.

Section 114.1 of the International Building Code provides, “Whenever the building official finds any work regulated by this code being performed in a manner either contrary to the provisions of this code or dangerous or unsafe, the building official **is authorized** to issue a stop work order.” (emphasis added).

⁸ As set forth in footnote 8, the Town mistakenly cites to the 2012 International Building Code in its brief. The Town did not adopt the 2012 International Building Code until July 9, 2013, which was more than a year after Donevant issued the stop work order. (R. p. 401, p. 426). Section 114.1 of the 2006 International Building Code is the same as section 115.1 of the 2012 International Building Code.

The plain language of Section 114.1 does not comport with the Town's argument. Section 114.1 merely states that the building official is authorized to issue stop work orders. The Court of Appeals understood Section 114.1 in this light and found the building code solely authorized Donevant to issue stop work orders. Donevant, 414 S.C. at 411, 778 S.E.2d at 328. The Court of Appeals found, "Based on our review of the building code, the building official is the only party authorized to issue a stop-work order for code violations. Thus, Donevant had sole discretion to determine whether to issue a stop-work order." Id.

Section 114.1 does not deal with whether Donevant was required to issue the stop work order for unpermitted construction. This analysis is determined by reference to other provisions of the building code. See Int'l Bld. Code § 105.1 ("Any owner or authorized agent who intends to construct ... shall first make application to the building official and obtain the required permit."); Int'l Bld. Code § 113.1 (declaring it unlawful for any person to erect, construct, or alter any building or structure "in violation of any provisions of this code."); Int'l Bld. Code § 104.2 (stating "the **building official shall** ... issue permits for the erection, and alteration, demolition and moving of buildings and structures, inspect the premises for which such permits have been issued and **enforce compliance with the provisions of the code.**") (emphasis added); Int'l Bld. Code § 104.3 ("The building official shall issue all necessary notices or orders to ensure compliance with this code."). The Court of Appeals correctly considered these other provisions of the building code and found they required Donevant to issue a stop work order to halt the unpermitted construction at the Pier Restaurant.

Additionally, the Town argues, "Donevant herself admitted she did not always issue stop work orders for violations." (**Town's Brief pp. 22-23**). The Town has not presented Donevant's testimony accurately. In full context, Donevant testified that she always issued stop work orders

when there was no permit, as was the case with the Pier Restaurant, where unpermitted construction was taking place. (R. pp. 121-22). However, Donevant testified if there was a code violation and there was a permit issued, she did not always issue a stop work order. (R. 122).

Donevant testified as follows:

Q. So if there was a code in violation that did not involve a permit problem, you wouldn't always give the builder a stop-work order?

A. Well, a permit will be issued. They call for an inspection. We go out and do the inspection. If there was something wrong, we would write it up and leave it there for them to correct. But they had a permit.

...

Q So yes or no would you always issue a stop-work order for code violations?

A For code violations of no permit, yes, sir.

Q For other code violations not involving a permit?

A No, sir.

(R. pp. 121-22).

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals correctly interpreted the building code in determining Donevant was required to issue the stop work order for unpermitted construction at the Pier Restaurant.

V. **THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY DISTINGUISHED THIS CASE FROM ANTLEY**

Next, the Town argues the Court of Appeals erred in distinguishing this case from Antley. These arguments were fully addressed in Roman Numeral III, *supra*, of Donevant's brief. To avoid needless repetition, Donevant will not recite them again and craves reference to those arguments.

VI. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION TO AFFIRM THIS CASE HAS NOT AND WILL NOT RESULT IN ECONOMIC CHAOS IN SOUTH CAROLINA

Lastly, the Town makes a slippery slope argument, positing that if this Court were to allow the Court of Appeals' decision to stand it would result in "economic chaos" in South Carolina. (Town's Brief, pp. 24-25).

Respectfully, the Court of Appeals issued the Donevant decision on August 26, 2015, which is almost two (2) years ago from the date of this brief. In this two-years' time, the Town's prophecy of impending doom and "economic chaos" from the Court of Appeals' opinion has not come true. Furthermore, contrary to the Town's argument, the decision by the Court of Appeals articulates nothing new from either a policy or legal standpoint. As the Court of Appeals stated, "Donevant's claim comes clearly within what our courts have already articulated what the law is—that she was required by her employer to violate the law." Donevant, 414 S.C. at 413, 778 S.E.2d at 329-30.

Accordingly, if this Court were to affirm the Court of Appeals' ruling, it would not result in economic chaos in South Carolina.

VII. DONEVANT PRESENTED EVIDENCE SHOWING SHE WAS TERMINATED IN VIOLATION OF A CLEAR MANDATE OF PUBLIC POLICY

The Court of Appeals also affirmed the trial court's denial of the Town's motion for directed verdict on the ground that Donevant "presented a cognizable claim that she was terminated in violation of a clear mandate of public policy." Donevant, 414 S.C. at 414, 778 S.E.2d at 330. The Town does not appeal from this finding; therefore, it is the law of the case. See First Union Nat'l Bank of S.C. v. Soden, 333 S.C. 554, 566, 511 S.E.2d 372, 378 (Ct. App. 1998) (holding an "unchallenged ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case and requires affirmance").

“The primary source of the declaration of public policy of the state is the General Assembly; the courts assume this prerogative only in the absence of legislative declaration.” Barron, 393 S.C. at 618, 713 S.E.2d at 639 (citing Citizens’ Bank v. Heyward, 135 S.C. 190, 133 S.E. 709, 713 (1925)). “[O]nce a public policy is established, the jury would determine the factual question whether the employee’s termination was in violation of that public policy.” Barron, 393 S.C. at 618, 713 S.E.2d at 639.

Title 6 of the South Carolina Code of Laws is the title that deals with the building code. See S.C. Code Ann. § 6-9-5 *et seq.* (1977 & Supp. 2014). Section 6-9-5(A) of the South Carolina Code of Laws provides:

The public policy of South Carolina is to maintain reasonable standards of construction in buildings and other structures in the State consistent with the public health, safety, and welfare of its citizens. To secure these purposes, a person performing building codes enforcement must be certified by the South Carolina Building Codes Council, and this act is necessary to provide for certification.

S.C. Code Ann. § 6-9-5(A) (Supp. 2014) (emphasis added).

To achieve the stated public policy of South Carolina, to maintain reasonable construction standards in building to protect the health, safety, and welfare of its citizens, the General Assembly adopted the remaining statutory provisions in Title 6 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, including section 6-9-10(A) of the South Carolina Code of Laws which requires “[a]ll municipalities ... and counties” to enforce the building code “within their jurisdiction and promulgate regulations to implement their enforcement.” S.C. Code Ann. § 6-9-10(A). It is within this public policy context that the General Assembly allows municipalities and counties to either

adopt Chapter 1 of the International Building Code,⁹ or to promulgate and adopt its own regulations to enforce the building code. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-9-50(A); S.C. Code Ann. § 6-9-10(A).

The Town adopted Chapter 1 of the International Building Code. Town of Surfside Beach, South Carolina, Code of Ordinances § 13-21. (**R. p. 426**). The building code requires any owner or authorized agent, before engaging in any construction on the premises, to “first make application to the building official and obtain the required permit.” Int’l Bld. Code § 105.1. Chapter 1 declares it unlawful for any person to erect, construct, or alter any building or structure “in violation of any provisions of this code.” Int’l Bld. Code § 113.1. The building code requires the building official to enforce compliance with its provisions. Int’l Bld. Code §§ 104.1-104.3.

It is a rare event for the General Assembly to use the magic words “the public policy of South Carolina.” It is additionally an unusual step for the General Assembly to implement the public policy of the State by requiring counties and municipalities to enforce the building code. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-9-50(A); S.C. Code Ann. § 6-9-10(A). This legislative intent, design, and policy of this statutory framework cannot be ignored. See State v. Morgan, 352 S.C. 359, 367, 574 S.E.2d 203, 207 (Ct. App. 2002) (“The statute as a whole must receive practical, reasonable, and fair interpretation consonant with the purpose, design, and policy of lawmakers.”).

Here, Donevant presented a cognizable theory for wrongful termination, which was correctly sent to the jury. See Barron, 393 S.C. 609, 615-16, 713 S.E.2d 634, 637 (holding a wrongful termination claim is not limited to situations where the employer requires the employee to violate the law or the reason for the employee’s termination itself is a violation of the law). The

⁹ Chapter 1 of the International Building Code provides a mechanism upon which the building code can be enforced. The General Assembly gives municipalities or counties the option to either adopt Chapter 1 or to promulgate and adopt their own enforcement regulations. See S.C. Code Ann. § 6-9-10(A).

public policy of the State of South Carolina is to maintain reasonable construction standards in building to protect the health, safety, and welfare of its citizens. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-9-5(A). To achieve these purposes, the General Assembly requires the building code to be adhered to and requires them to be enforced. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-9-10(A); Int'l Bld. Code §§ 104.1-104.3, 105.1, 113.1, 114.1. Donevant was enforcing the building code on March 20, 2014, when she issued a stop work order for unpermitted construction at the Pier Restaurant. Donevant presented evidence that after issuing the stop work order, Duckett initially suspended her and ultimately terminated her. Thus, Donevant testified and presented evidence to support a theory for wrongful termination that was proper to submit to the jury.

From there, it was an issue of fact as to whether the jury believed the Town terminated Donevant for issuing a stop work order or for other reasons not related to Donevant's issuance of the stop work order. Donevant clearly presented evidence to support her theory that "[Duckett] fired [her] for putting a stop-work order, for doing my job."¹⁰ (R. p. 120). Ultimately, the jury believed the version of facts as presented by Donevant.

Accordingly, this Court should not disturb the jury's verdict as there was an issue of fact as to whether the Town terminated Donevant in violation of a clear mandate of public policy. See Barron, 393 S.C. at 617, 713 S.E.2d at 638 (a plaintiff in a wrongful termination cause of action must establish a public policy; then, "the jury would determine the factual question of whether the employee's termination was in violation of that public policy.").

VIII. THE TOWN MISCHARACTERIZES THE TRIAL JUDGE'S UNDERSTANDING OF THE FACTS AND THE LAW IN ITS BRIEF

¹⁰ On appeal, the Town does not allege that Donevant failed to present sufficient evidence in support of her wrongful termination claim. Therefore, this issue is not preserved for appellate review.

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